1994

Kirk H. Mower and Utah Department of Human Services v. Alexander & Alexander, INC : Brief of Appellant

Utah Court of Appeals

STATEMENT OF JURISDICTION

The Utah Supreme Court has jurisdiction of this appeal pursuant to Utah Code Ann. §78-2-2(3)(j).

V.

ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW AND THE STANDARD OF REVIEW

The issues presented for review are:

1. Does the factual issue of whether the Mower/Lynn Transportation agreement (hereinafter "Mower/Lynn Agreement") is an integrated contract present genuine issues of material fact requiring a reversal and setting aside of the summary judgment?
2. Could a fact finder construe the contemporaneously executed insurance order form and Mower/Lynn Agreement as one contract requiring reversal of the summary judgment?
3. Does the parol evidence rule bar a contemporaneously executed insurance order form setting forth how Worker's Compensation would be obtained when the simultaneously executed written contract is silent on the issue and does not set forth or require a specific method for obtaining the Worker's Compensation insurance coverage?
4. Was the parol evidence rule correctly applied to bar Mower's claims for negligence, negligent misrepresentation and breach of contract against Lynn Transportation Co., Inc.

(hereinafter "Lynn" or "Lynn Transportation") and Alexander & Alexander (hereinafter "A&A")?

5. Are the appellees estopped from denying their obligation to purchase Worker's Compensation insurance for Mower or, in the alternative, to notify him that they were unable to do so?

6. Even if a written integrated contract exists between Lynn and Mower requiring Mower to obtain Worker's Compensation coverage, does that bar Mower's claims against A&A for its failure to provide the ordered Worker's Compensation insurance coverage or, in the alternative, inform Mower that A&A could not obtain the coverage?

7. Did Mower fail to provide the notice required by Utah Code Ann. § 35-1-43(3)(a), and if not, does the failure preclude Mower from suing the appellees for failure to provide the ordered Worker's Compensation insurance or, in the alternative, notify Mower that they could not obtain the insurance?

8. Does the Mower/Lynn Agreement entitle Lynn to recover its attorney's fees and costs?

9. Is Lynn Transportation equitably estopped from obtaining attorney's fees under its contract with Mower?

10. Are there material issues of fact which require reversal of the summary judgment?

Each of the foregoing issues were raised in the memoranda supporting and opposing the parties' motions for summary judgment (R. 172-187, 192-276, 395-446, 465-489, 565-570, 633-635).

STANDARD OF REVIEW

A grant of summary judgment is appropriate only when no genuine issue of material fact exists and the moving party is entitled to judgment as a matter of law. And in deciding whether the trial court properly granted summary judgment, this Court reviews the decision for correctness without any deference to the trial court. E.g., CECO Corporation v. Concrete Specialists, Inc., 772 P.2d 967, 969 (Utah 1989). Further, whether the lower court correctly determined that the contract at issue was an integrated contract is reviewed for correctness, as is the question of whether the lower court correctly applied the parol evidence rule. Union Bank v. Swenson, 707 P.2d 663 (Utah 1985); Bullfrog Marina, Inc. v. Lentz, 501 P.2d 266, 270 (Utah 1972). In addition, whether written documents merged to form one contract is a question of fact and, on an appeal of a summary judgment, the lower court's conclusion is reviewed under a correction of error standard. Bullfrog Marina, supra at 270. Whether Mower complied with Utah Code Ann. §35-1-43(3)(a), and if not, whether the failure bars Mower's claims, are issues of statutory construction reviewed under a correctness standard. See, generally, Surety Life Insurance Co. v. Smith, 259 U.A.R. 9, 10 (Utah 1995); Berube v. Fashion Center, Ltd., 771 P.2d

1033, 1038 (Utah 1989); Mendez v. State Dept. of Social Services, 813 P.2d 1234, 1236 (Utah App. 1991); Geneva Pipe Co. v. S&H Insurance Co., 714 P.2d 648, 649-50 (Utah 1986). Moreover, whether Lynn was entitled to attorney's fees pursuant to the contract at issue is a question of contract construction and is reviewed for correctness. E.g., Scudder v. Kennecott Corp., 858 P.2d 1005 (Utah App. 1993); Gordon v. CRS Consulting Engineers, Inc., 820 P.2d 492, 493 (Utah App. 1991).

Finally, whether material fact issues exist is reviewed de novo, and on review, the appellant is entitled to have all of the facts presented and all of the inferences fairly arising therefrom considered in a light most favorable to him. Geneva Pipe Co., supra.

VI.

DETERMINATIVE CONSTITUTIONAL PROVISIONS, STATUTES, ORDINANCES, RULES AND REGULATIONS

A determinative rule is U.R.C.P. 56, a copy of which is set forth in the Addendum to this Brief.

VII.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. Nature of the Case, Course of Proceedings, and Disposition of the Lower Court

This is an appeal from two summary judgments. One judgment dismissed Keith H. Mower's ("Mower's") claims against Lynn Transportation Co., Inc. and Alexander & Alexander, Inc. for breach

of contract, negligence, negligent misrepresentation and fraud (R. 565-570).

The other judgment awarded Lynn Transportation \$34,398.52 in attorney's fees and costs as a result of the lower court's interpretation of a contractual indemnification provision (R. 633-635).

B. Statement of the Facts Relevant to the Issues Presented For Review

On appeal, Mower is entitled to have all of the facts presented and all of the inferences fairly arising therefrom considered in a light most favorable to him. Winegar v. Froerer Corp., 813 P.2d 104, 107 (Utah 1991). Viewed in that light, the facts are as follows:

Lynn Transportation is an Iowa trucking company doing business in Utah (R. 177, 297-298, 333, 435). It employs its own drivers and also contracts with independent owner/operators to transport Lynn Transportation loads (R. 297, 299, 435-436).

Up until late 1989, Mower worked as a Lynn employee truck driver (R. 435-436). In April of 1990, Mower toyed with the idea of buying his own semi-truck/tractor, and toward that end, purchased one from Great Basin GMC (R. 436).

Following the purchase of his truck, Mower requested that his former employer allow him to drive for it as an owner/operator (R. 436). On April 12, 1990, Mower met with two company employees

-- Comptroller Susan Archibeque and office worker Linda Murray (R. 423). Archibeque presented the form contract, a copy of which is attached in the Addendum hereto as Exhibit 4 (R. 173, 181, 424). The contract required Mower to obtain "Bobtail" and "Liability" insurance coverage for liability and property damage. The contract also required Mower to obtain Worker's Compensation insurance (R. 172, 181). Paragraph 9(b) of the Agreement states:

The Contractor [Mower] shall obtain and maintain in force and effect Workmen's Compensation insurance . . . covering itself, its drivers, driver's helpers and laborers employed by it (R. 181, 416)

In addition, the same paragraph contains the following indemnification language:

Contractor [Mower] agrees to . . . indemnify and Carrier [Lynn Transportation] harmless from and against any claims, loss or damage brought or alleged by Contractor or its employees against Carrier [Lynn Transportation] for any injury, including death, to Contractor or its employees resulting from the performance of this agreement. (R. 181, 416, 598)

After presenting the form contract to Mower, Susan directed him to Linda and her cubicle to discuss insurance. Both Susan and Linda told Mower that Lynn Transportation could obtain insurance for him cheaper than he could obtain it for himself (R. 427, 466). Linda presented an insurance order form (copy attached in the Addendum as Exhibit 5) prepared and given to her by A&A (R. 396, 418, 477). A&A is a Maryland or Oklahoma corporation

authorized to do business in Utah as an insurance brokerage (R. 297-298, 318, 337). It obtains insurance for its clients, including Lynn Transportation (R. 299, 318, 334, 467). However, it has no offices in Utah. Instead, it provided insurance order forms to Lynn Transportation for use by Lynn's employees and independent contractors. It provided the insurance order form at issue (R. 178, 183, 299, 336, 467-468). A&A's order form contains the following language:

COVERAGE DESIRED: Bobtail _____ Physical
Damage _____ Worker's Compensation _____.
(R. 183)

In her deposition, Linda testified she told Mower that he had to fill out the form to obtain insurance:

Q: Did you tell him that that form had to be filled out for him to get insurance?

A: Yes.

Q: And you understood that form was going to be used to obtain insurance for him?

A: Yes.

(Deposition of Linda Murray, 3-23-92, p. 13; R. 420.)

Mower checked all three insurance blanks, requested Bobtail, Physical Damage and Worker's Compensation insurance coverage, and signed the A&A order form (R. 173, 178, 183, 300, 396, 425, 465). Mower described his subsequent conversation with Linda as follows:

A: She looked at Exhibit 4 [A&A's insurance order form]. And she says: You want us to provide you with Workmen's Compensation? And I said: Yes. And she said: Workmen's Compensation, you are not considered an employee of the company. Lynn Transportation pays for the Workmen's Compensation insurance for our drivers and for our employees. You would have to be added to this policy, and you would be expected to pay the difference between what the policy premium is this month and what the policy premium is next month, you know, with you being added onto it. And she says: It's liable to be expensive. Do you still want it? I says: As long as the company is taking out my insurance, it would be easier for me if all the insurance was handled through the company where I don't have to fool with it and make checks for it and stuff when I'm home.

(Deposition of Kirk Mower, 7-21-92, p. 113; R. 432, hereinafter "Mower's Depo., R. ____".)

Mower further explained:

Q: When Linda told you that she would have to add a rider to get you Worker's Compensation . . . what did you say?

A: . . . Let's get it handled.

(Mower's Depo. at 426-427.)

Mower summarized the five-minute conversation as follows: "This is what I want." "You've got it. Go see Susan." (Mower's Depo., R. 434.) Whereupon he did.

Susan asked Mower if he understood the written contract provided to him before he was directed to meet with Linda. Mower replied that he did and signed it (R. 177, 182, 425). That same day, Linda faxed the insurance order form to A&A (R. 306, 320, 376, 396, 420, 468).

The order form ordering Worker's Compensation insurance was received by A&A from Lynn Transportation with the Worker's Compensation box checked. (Id.)

In summary, the insurance form was completed at the same time as the written contract and as part of the hiring process. The insurance form and contract with Lynn Transportation were signed contemporaneously and as part of the transaction wherein Mower became employed as an independent contractor of Lynn Transportation (R. 172, 177, 178, 298-300, 465-66).

According to Mower, Lynn Transportation represented that it would send in the order form and that A&A would compute Mower's premiums (R. 178, 188-89, 300-01, 466-67).

Lynn Transportation told Mower that money would be deducted from payments due to him for insurance ordered from A&A (R. 173, 178, 301, 466). Lynn Transportation, in fact, deducted money to pay for "insurance" (R. 173, 178, 301, 400, 466).

Mower reasonably believed that he had purchased Worker's Compensation insurance (R. 173-74, 178, 188-89, 302, 467). At no time did Lynn Transportation or A&A inform Mr. Mower that:

(a) He could not purchase Worker's Compensation insurance from A&A;

(b) Worker's Compensation insurance had not been put in force;

(c) Additional information was needed to put Worker's Compensation insurance in force;

(d) Money was not being withheld to pay for Worker's Compensation insurance, or that the money held out for insurance did not purchase Worker's Compensation insurance (R. 173, 175, 178, 465, 466).

A&A never notified Mower that:

(a) It did not sell Worker's Compensation insurance;

(b) It was not going to obtain Worker's Compensation insurance for appellant;

(c) It could not, or would not, obtain coverage for appellant (R. 173, 175, 178, 468).

Mower was specifically told by Lynn Transportation employees that:

(a) He could obtain all necessary insurance through Lynn Transportation and that their insurance agent, A&A, and Lynn Transportation would pay for the same with payroll deductions

(Affidavits of Kirk Mower dated 12/3/91 and 11/5/92; R. 178, 300-04, 465);

(b) Worker's Compensation was available through Lynn Transportation (R. 178, 301, 466);

(c) He could order all necessary insurance through Lynn Transportation's agent, A&A (R. 178, 301, 466); and

(d) Insurance ordered on the insurance form provided by Lynn Transportation as to Mr. Mower would be ordered and he would pay for the insurance through payroll deductions (R. 301, 304, 466).

Appellant was a novice in purchasing insurance, and reasonably relied upon A&A and Lynn Transportation to provide him Worker's Compensation insurance or notify him that they could not obtain the insurance for him. Lynn Transportation knew that Mower was driving the truck and that Mower was relying on it to obtain Worker's Compensation insurance for him (R. 188-89, 302, 468).

On or about July 28, 1990, Mower was injured in an accident while driving his tractor-trailer and hauling a load of potatoes for Lynn Transportation. As a result of the accident, Mower's back has been fused and he is permanently disabled (R. 178, 302, 590, 622).

Subsequent to the accident, Mower learned for the first time that he was not covered by Worker's Compensation (R. 302). Since part of his medical expenses were paid by the Utah Department

of Human Services under Medicaid, it has been joined as a party plaintiff in this action (R. 297-310).

Mower sued Lynn Transportation and A&A for breach of contract, negligence, negligent misrepresentation and fraud (R. 2-16). Mower claimed that Lynn Transportation and A&A should have provided him the ordered Worker's Compensation insurance or informed him that they could not get it. Had Mower known that he did not have Worker's Compensation insurance coverage, he would not have driven his truck for Lynn Transportation (R. 178, 302). Claims for fraud and negligence are both fact-intensive. Thus, summary judgment is rarely granted. Early on in the litigation, A&A identified the following factual issues requiring a trial:

1. Whether the form is an order form for Worker's Compensation and whether it was a contract, or whether it was provided as a courtesy service to Lynn Transportation contractors (R. 196).

2. The scope and nature of the insurance coverage offered by Lynn Transportation and A&A and ordered by Mower is in dispute (R. 197).

3. Whether Mower's belief that he had Worker's Compensation was reasonable (R. 198).

However, the factual issues identified by A&A did not prevent Lynn Transportation and A&A from subsequently moving for summary judgment (R. 447-50). In support of their motion, they

presented two arguments. First, they said that, "All of Mower's theories of liability are in direct conflict with the express terms of Mower's contract with Lynn." More specifically, they said that (1) the contract required Mower to obtain Worker's Compensation; (2) estoppel was inapplicable because the court cannot rewrite and integrate a contract; (3) the parol evidence rule excluded the representations made by Lynn's employees and the insurance order form; and (4) Mower could not have reasonably relied upon the employees' representations. The second ground for the summary judgment was that Mower had not provided the notice required by Utah Code Ann. §31A-1-43(3)(a) so he could not have been damaged by Lynn Transportation's and A&A's failure to obtain Worker's Compensation insurance coverage for him (R. 395-446).

The lower court determined that, "The contract between Lynn Transportation and . . . Mower . . . is an integrated contract, and the parol evidence rule therefore bars evidence of prior contemporaneous representations to vary the terms of the contract." (R. 565-66.) The lower court then said:

It is undisputed that the form . . . was signed prior to the time Mower signed the written contract The contract unambiguously assigned the responsibility to obtain Worker's Compensation to . . . Mower (R. 566-67).

Based on the foregoing, the court concluded:

There is no genuine issue of material fact that the written contract controls and the

duty to obtain Worker's Compensation insurance rests with plaintiff Mower and not defendants [Lynn Transportation and A&A]. (R. 567)

The court also said that Mower had not given the notice required by Utah Code Ann. §35-1-43(3)(a), so "there is therefore no genuine issue of material fact from which a fact finder could conclude that the failure to obtain Worker's Compensation insurance . . . resulted in any damage" (R. 567.)

Thereafter, Lynn Transportation moved for summary judgment on an indemnification clause. Specifically, Lynn Transportation said that it was entitled to attorney's fees and court costs because Mower's claims arose from the performance of his contract with Lynn (R. 595-607, 621, 624).

In response, Mower explained that the indemnification clause did not apply because, "The claims of Mower did not arise from the performance of the contract" (R. 618) The court rejected Mower's argument and entered summary judgment for attorney's fees and costs on July 13, 1994 (R. 633-35). Mower timely appealed both Orders on August 5, 1994 (R. 636-37).

VIII.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

POINT I

Whether the Mower/Lynn Written
Agreement Is An Integrated
Contract Presents Genuine Issues of
Material Fact Requiring Reversal
of the Summary Judgment.

Whether a written agreement is an integrated contract is a question of fact requiring reversal of the summary judgment. See, e.g., Bullfrog Marina, Inc. v. Lentz, 501 P.2d 266, 270 (Utah 1972). Further, before the issue of integration can be resolved, the fact finder must resolve the following three genuine issues of material fact: (1) whether the parties intended the insurance order form and Mower/Lynn Agreement to be construed as one contract (see Bullfrog Marina, supra at 270); (2) whether Mower would have signed the Mower/Lynn Agreement if he had known that the insurance order form would not be construed as part of the contract (see Id.); and (3) whether misrepresentations were made to induce Mower to sign the Mower/Lynn Agreement. See Union Bank v. Swenson, 707 P.2d 663, 666 (Utah 1995). Since the lower court was presented with the foregoing genuine issues of material fact, the lower court's summary judgment is inappropriate and must be reversed. See, generally, e.g., Jackson v. Richter, 259 U.A.R. 3 (Utah 1995).

POINT II

The Lower Court's Misapplication of the Parol Evidence Rule Does Not Justify the Lower Court's Summary Judgment.

The lower court's application of the parol evidence rule does not justify the summary judgment for the following reasons: (1) as set forth in Point I, genuine issues of material fact must be resolved before the parol evidence rule can be applied; (2) the parol evidence rule does not bar Mower's claims against A&A because A&A was not a party to the so-called integrated contract; (3) the parol evidence rule does not bar claims for misrepresentation; (4) the parol evidence rule does not bar negligence claims; and (5) the representations made by Lynn's employees and the A&A order form were not offered to vary the terms of the Mower/Lynn Agreement. Since the misapplication of the parol evidence rule was the basis for the lower court's summary judgment, the summary judgment must be reversed.

POINT III

Whether Lynn Transportation Is Estopped From Denying Its Promise to Obtain Worker's Compensation For Mower Creates Genuine Issues of Material Fact Requiring Reversal of the Summary Judgment.

Promissory estoppel relates primarily to those informal contracts which lack consideration but where, because of facts surrounding the transaction, injustice can only be avoided by

enforcing the promise. Easton v. Wycoff, 4 Utah 2d 386, 388, 295 P.2d 332 (1956).

Application of the doctrine creates the following genuine issues of material fact, each warranting a reversal of the summary judgment: (1) whether Lynn Transportation made a representation or omission; (2) whether Mower reasonably and justifiably relied on Lynn's representations, acts or omissions; and (3) whether Mower changed his position to his detriment based on his reliance. Since summary judgment is appropriate only when there are no genuine issues of material fact, the lower court's summary judgments must be reversed.

POINT IV

Utah Code Ann. §35-1-43(3)(a) Does Not Bar Mower From Seeking Damages Against Lynn Transportation and A&A For Their Failure to Provide the Ordered Worker's Compensation Insurance Coverage Or Their Failure to Notify Mower That They Could Not Obtain the Coverage.

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