1994

Kirk H. Mower and Utah Department of Human Services v. Alexander & Alexander, INC : Brief of Appellee

Utah Court of Appeals

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENTS

This case concerns the enforcement of a clear contractual provision assigning the duty to obtain workers' compensation insurance for Mower's company to Mower. The contract is integrated on its face, and there was no evidence submitted below to rebut the presumption of its integration. In fact, Mower has repeatedly conceded that his contract with Lynn required him to obtain the workers' compensation insurance. Contrary contractual duties cannot be implied in the face of the written Agreement's clear provision. There is therefore no genuine dispute concerning the contractual apportionment of that duty to Mower.

There is likewise no issue of fact concerning the equitable doctrine of estoppel. Mower's alleged "reliance" on the defendants' actions and inactions was not, as a matter of law, reasonable. More importantly, the estoppel doctrine could only be applied to excuse Mower from his contractual obligation if Mower was without fault in this situation. Mower clearly bears significant fault for his failure to comply with his contractual commitments and obtain workers' compensation insurance.

Mower's tort and other common law claims cannot alter the contractual duties established by the Agreement between Mower and Lynn. The duties here arise out of a contractual relationship, and imposing contrary tort duties on Lynn would deprive Lynn of its contractual rights, and frustrate the ability of all commercial parties to govern their respective business responsibilities to one another through contract. Moreover, because Mower's Agreement with Lynn requires him to indemnify Lynn for the very claim he asserts here, any tort claim amounts to a zero-sum proposition: Mower is contractually obligated to repay Lynn for every dollar Lynn is required to pay for Mower's tort claims.

In addition, even if contract or tort law imposed a duty on Lynn to obtain workers' compensation insurance for Mower's company, Mower's injuries would not have been covered under such a policy, so Mower is undamaged by Lynn's alleged failure to obtain such a policy. Mower is a sole proprietor of his business, and would have had to affirmatively give notice to both the insurance carrier and the Utah State Industrial Commission prior to being covered under a workers' compensation policy. It is undisputed that Mower never gave such notice to anyone, so he would not have been covered. The damages he claims (measured by the amount of workers' compensation benefits he would have

received under the policy he claims Lynn should have obtained for him) equal zero.

Finally, the trial court correctly ordered the entry of judgment against Mower and in favor of Lynn in the amount of \$34,398.52. Properly interpreted, the indemnification clause in this case encompasses all the claims asserted in this action by Mower.

ARGUMENT

I. THERE IS NO ISSUE CONCERNING THE TERMS OF MOWER'S CONTRACT WITH LYNN.

A. Mower Did Not Contest The Issue Of Integration Below.

Mower's first point on appeal asserts that the trial court erred in holding that the parol evidence rule barred his claims because issues of fact existed regarding the contract's integration. Mower did not raise this issue below. On the contrary, Mower conceded that his contract with Lynn required him to obtain workers' compensation insurance. Mower's Memorandum In Response To Defendants' Joint Motion For Summary Judgment, R. 465 ("Plaintiff admits he agreed at the time he was hired as an independent contractor, that he would obtain workers' compensation insurance . . . ") and at R. 469 ("all parties admit plaintiff had a duty under the contract to carry worker's compensation insurance"); Mower's Response to Motion For Summary Judgment on Counterclaim, R. 618 ("The contract at issue places responsibility

on plaintiff to obtain worker's compensation insurance"). Rather than contest the contractual theories asserted by defendants in their motion for summary judgment, Mower chose to rely solely on his estoppel and negligence theories. R. 468 through 475. He raised no argument, and pointed to no fact, concerning the written Agreement's integration.

This Court will not consider arguments raised for the first time on appeal. Ong Intern. (USA) v. 11th Ave. Corp., 850 P.2d 447, 455 n.31 (Utah 1993); LeBaron & Assoc. v. Rebel Enter., 823 P.2d 479, 482-84 (Utah App. 1991); Barson v. E.R. Squibb & Sons, Inc., 682 P.2d 832, 837-838 (Utah 1984); Franklin Fin. v. New Empire Dev. Co., 659 P.2d 1040, 1044-45 (Utah 1983). At the trial court level, Defendants' assertions that the Agreement was integrated went unchallenged.³ R. 404 & 508. Indeed, those arguments were conceded. It would be unfair to permit Mower to change his legal position and now argue that the contract was integrated.

³ Mower briefed only his estoppel theory (in an attempt to defeat Defendants' reliance on the Agreement to bar Mower's claims), his negligence theory, and argued that he had been damaged by defendants' conduct. R. 465-475. He did not brief or otherwise pursue his claims of fraud, agency, or Restatement (Second) of Torts § 323. Thus, these theories have likewise not been preserved for appeal. Ong Intern., 850 P.2d at 455, n.31; LeBaron & Assoc., 823 P.2d at 482-84; Barson, 682 P.2d at 837-38; Franklin Fin., 659 P.2d at 1044-45.

B. There Is No Issue of Fact Concerning the Agreement's Integration.

Even if Mower had properly raised the legal issue of integration below, the trial court was correct in concluding, based on the undisputed facts before the court, that the Agreement was integrated. R. 551. The Agreement at issue in this case contains an express integration clause, in which Mower and Lynn agreed that:

This Agreement constitutes the entire Agreement and understanding between the parties and shall not be modified, altered, changed or amended in any respect unless in writing and signed by the parties.

R. 417. Such a declaration, unambiguous on its face, is regarded by many authorities as conclusive proof of the issue of integration by Professors Corbin and Williston. 4 S. Williston, Williston on Contracts, § 633 (3d ed. 1961); A. L. Corbin, Corbin on Contracts, § 578 at 403, 411 (1960) cited in, Lloyd's Unlimited v. Nature's Way Marketing, Ltd., 753 P.2d 507, 512 (Utah App. 1988). "By limiting the contract to the provisions that are in writing, the parties are definitely expressing an intention to nullify antecedent understandings or agreements. They are making the document a complete integration." Corbin, at 411. While Utah apparently admits evidence to rebut such a written statement in a contract, Union Bank v. Swenson, 707 P.2d 663, 665 (Utah 1985) (dicta), this same case also creates a presumption of integration in such cases, requiring that a party claiming the contract is not

integrated come forward with evidence demonstrating as much. Id.
No such evidence was offered by Mower.

Mower and Lynn agreed that their mutual responsibilities were set forth in the written Contractor Operating Agreement; Mower is now seeking to avoid that Agreement by contending that, instead of the unambiguous provision in that Agreement assigning the obligation to obtain workers' compensation insurance to Mower, an ambiguous and previously executed insurance form imposed that duty on Lynn.

The Agreement's terms are clear; it was Mower's job to obtain workers' compensation insurance for his business, and the parties intended that their written contract set forth all of their obligations to each other. To rely on conduct extrinsic to the contract's clear written terms to impose a contrary duty on Lynn is to ignore the express terms of the parties' contract, as well as Mower's repeated admissions of that contractual duty. In addition, to ignore the Agreement's integration clause frustrates the entire purpose of that clause and ignores the utter failure of Mower to come forward with any evidence indicating that either party intended that the integration clause means something other than what it plainly says. Mower did not demonstrate a genuine issue of fact that the parties intended collateral representations to be incorporated in their contract. The only theories raised by Mower

to avoid this obligation were estoppel and negligence theories. This Court should not permit Mower to rewrite his legal theories on appeal.

Here, the parties agreed that the written contract was an integration of all prior negotiations. Agreement, R. 417. It was intended as a complete statement of the relative responsibilities of the contractor and the carrier. Mower's factually unsupported attempt to circumvent the express provisions of the written contract ignore this basic and undisputed fact.

C. The Parol Evidence Rule Bars the Use of
Collateral Statements and Actions to Vary
the Terms of Lynn's Contract with Mower.

Fundamentally, this case is about enforcing the express terms of a written contract. Whether the case is approached through tort, estoppel or other theories, at root Mower is attempting to disavow the written instrument that the parties previously agreed represented a complete summation of their relationship. None of the facts brought forth by Mower justify setting aside that contract. Mower promised that he would be responsible for obtaining necessary workers' compensation insurance and promised to indemnify Lynn from any on-the-job injuries to his employees or to himself. That express clause precludes imposing a contradictory duty on defendants. Rio Algom Corp. v. Jimco Ltd., 618 P.2d 497, 505 (Utah 1980) ("An express

agreement or covenant relating to a specific contract right excludes the possibility of an implied covenant of a different or contradictory nature").

The parol evidence rule is a substantive rule of contract law designed to protect the ability of parties to memorialize their agreements in writing, without fear that the whole gamut of their dealings will be used to change their final agreement. The Utah Supreme Court has summarized the rule:

When parties have reduced to writing what appears to be a complete and certain agreement it will be conclusively presumed, in the absence of fraud, that the writing contains the whole of the agreement between the parties; and the parol evidence of contemporaneous conversations, representations or statements will not be received for the purpose of varying or adding to the terms of the written agreement.

Bullfrog Marina, Inc. v. Lentz, 28 Utah 2d 261, 501 P.2d 266, 270 (1972); accord, Union Bank v. Swenson, 707 P.2d 663, 665 (Utah 1985) ("Simply stated, the rule operates in the absence of fraud to exclude contemporaneous conversations, statements, or representations offered for the purpose of varying or adding to the terms of an integrated contract").⁴

⁴ There is no evidence of fraud here. The only person who Mower accuses of making misleading statements is Linda Granath, a friend of Mower's from his prior job. Neither she nor Lynn would have any motive to mislead Mower about the need to obtain worker's compensation insurance. On the contrary, such insurance was important enough to Lynn to cause it to insert an express
(continued...)

Mower contends that the one-page insurance form was offered not to change the parties' contract, but to clarify the manner in which Mower was to fulfill his duty. This is sophistry. Mower's argument necessarily seeks to shift a contractual duty clearly imposed on Mower over to Lynn, by arguing that the form constituted a separate agreement. Such a construction is directly contrary to the parties' express acknowledgement that the Lynn/Mower Agreement reflected "the entire Agreement and understanding between the parties."

Mower seeks to offer evidence of collateral statements and actions in order to shift an obligation expressly assigned to him by his written Agreement with Lynn. On its face, and on the undisputed factual record, the parties intended the Agreement to serve as a complete expression of their arrangement. If the parol evidence rule (and for that matter, the concept of written contracts) is to have any vitality, it is the written Agreement that must control, not Mower's self-serving and subjective understanding.

⁴ (...continued)
provision in its contract requiring the contractor to obtain that insurance for himself. There is no evidence in the record supporting any intent on Defendants' part to mislead OMower. Although challenged by Lynn to present such evidence in response to Defendants' Motion For Summary Judgment, R. 404, plaintiff offered none.

II. THE TRIAL COURT CORRECTLY CONCLUDED THAT ESTOPPEL IS UNAVAILABLE TO MOWER AS A MATTER OF LAW.

Rather than dispute that Mower had agreed that he would be responsible for obtaining workers' compensation insurance, Mower sought to avoid his Agreement with Lynn by invoking the doctrine of equitable estoppel. Contrary to his briefing before this Court, Mower did not plead any affirmative promissory estoppel claims; rather, his estoppel theory was presented solely as a response to Lynn's position that Mower may not impose duties on Lynn that contradict those duties spelled out in the Agreement.⁵

It is well established in this state that "it is not for a court to rewrite a contract improvidently entered into at arm's length or to change the bargain indirectly on the basis of supposed equitable principles." Dalton v. Jerico Constr. Co., 642 P.2d 748, 750 (Utah 1982) quoted in Hal Taylor Assoc. v. Unionamerica, Inc., 657 P.2d 743, 749 (Utah 1982). As the Utah Supreme Court has explained:

The basic rule of contract interpretation is that the intent of the parties is to be ascertained from the content of the instrument itself, the rationale for the rule being to preserve the sanctity of

⁵ Nor would the pleading of a promissory estoppel case have made any difference. Not only would such a theory fail as a matter of law for lack of reasonable reliance (as discussed infra), but such a contract would also necessarily require implying contractual duties contrary to the express Agreement. Utah courts do not imply such contradictory duties. Rio Algom v. Jimco Ltd., 618 P.2d 497, 505 (Utah 1980).

written instruments. Each contract provision is to be considered in relation to all of the others with a view toward giving affect to all and ignoring none. It is only when an ambiguity exists which cannot be reconciled by an objective and reasonable interpretation of the contract as a whole that a resort may be had to the use of extrinsic evidence.

Utah Valley Bank v. Tanner, 636 P.2d 1060, 1061-62 (Utah 1981).

Application of the doctrine of estoppel here would deprive the written contract between the parties of its intended force, and effect an end run around the parol evidence rule.

A. As a Matter of Law, Mower Could Not Have Reasonably Relied on Lynn's Statements and Actions.

Estoppel requires some action or representation made by the party to be estopped, inconsistent with a later position, on which the party asserting estoppel reasonably relies. Ceco Corp. v. Concrete Specialists, Inc., 772 P.2d 967, 969-970 (Utah 1989). The undisputed facts of this case, as a matter of law, cannot support a finding that Mower behaved reasonably in assuming he had workers' compensation insurance.⁶

It is undisputed in this case that Mower's three-to-five minute conversation with a Lynn employee, on which Mower bases

⁶ The arguments in this section related to reasonable reliance apply equally to Mower's claims of promissory estoppel (unpleaded below, but asserted here) as well as his tort claims of fraud, negligent misrepresentation and his theory of agency. Amended Complaint, ¶ 52, 57, & 82. R. 304-307. As stated above, however, none of those theories has been properly preserved for appeal.

his entire case, took place prior to the signing of the contract between Lynn and Mower. Defendants' Statement of Undisputed Facts, R. 398, Mower Deposition, R. 424-428, 432 & 434. Mower's theory of misrepresentation (the basis for all of his tort and estoppel claims) is that during this brief conversation, Linda Granath, in giving him the form with the workers' compensation blank, somehow committed both Lynn and Alexander to obtain such insurance for Mower. Significantly, however, Mower does not testify that Granath ever said she would obtain such insurance. He seems to have simply assumed that that was the case from their brief conversation. Mower testifies that Granath told him that getting such a policy through Lynn's carrier would be expensive, and would require adding a rider to the existing policy. He does not testify that Granath ever committed to doing anything more than faxing in the form with his "X"-mark on it:

Q. (by Mr. Stone) When Linda [Granath] told you that she would have to add a rider to get you on the Worker's Compensation policy that Lynn had for its drivers what did you say?

A. Verbatim I don't know. Basically what I said was: I won't have time to be dealing with all of this stuff and operate the truck, so what we're going to handle at the company let's get it handled.

Q. Did she tell you she would get Worker's Comp?

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